**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**  
**CASE NO. SC 14-211**

THE FLORIDA BAR

RE: ADVISORY OPINION  
MEDICAID PLANNING ACTIVITIES  
BY NONLAWYERS

---

**BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO THE  
PROPOSED ADVISORY OPINION**

---

Stephen M. Masterson  
Florida Bar No.: 201014  
2927 Kerry Forest Parkway  
Tallahassee, Florida 32309  
Telephone: (850) 445-3657  
Facsimile: (850) 893-5846  
[steve@smastersonlaw.com](mailto:steve@smastersonlaw.com)

*On behalf of William D. Burns*

**

## **INTRODUCTION**

Pursuant to rule 10-9.1(g)(3) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, William D. Burns, by and through undersigned counsel, files this objection to the Proposed Advisory Opinion regarding certain activities of nonlawyer Medicaid Planners. William D. Burns (“Burns”), as more fully described herein, holds a securities license and an insurance license. As a part of his business, Burns provides Medicaid planning services for his clients.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The Unauthorized Practice of Law (“UPL”) Subcommittee of the Elder Law Section of The Florida Bar (“Elder Law Section”) petitioned the Standing Committee on the Unauthorized Practice of Law of The Florida Bar (“Standing Committee on UPL”) to seek an Advisory Opinion from this Court regarding certain activities of nonlawyer Medicaid planners. The procedural history of that process is accurately described in the Proposed Advisory Opinion.

In this brief, Burns does not challenge the basic contentions argued in the POA that the drafting of trusts and contracts are the practice of law. Burns does not dispute the long standing rules concerning the appropriate relationship between a lawyer and a nonlawyer. The remaining issue presented in the POA is the focus of

Burns' concern. The POA, in addressing the definition of legal advice, fails to take into consideration the participation of other licensed and regulated professionals in Medicaid planning, thus the proposed definition improperly restricts and interferes with the duties and responsibility of other professions and improperly infringes upon the rights of the public to utilize the services of nonlawyer professionals. The PAO, contrary to its stated goal of clarifying the definition of the unauthorized practice of law, adds confusion to that determination.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### A. Summary of Evidence

The Elder Law Section of The Florida Bar petitioned the Standing Committee on the Unauthorized Practice of Law of The Florida Bar ("Standing Committee") for an advisory opinion on certain activities of nonlawyer Medicaid planners. The petition alleged that the services that are provided by nonattorney planners include: 1) The drafting of personal service contracts. 2) The preparation and execution of qualified income trusts. 3) Legal advice regarding the implementation of Florida law to obtain Medicaid benefits. (TAB A)<sup>1</sup>

The PAO acknowledges that the Standing Committee on UPL previously addressed this issue and provided direction on the subject in a letter dated May 13, 2009. (TAB B). The 2009 letter reported that the committee, based upon existing

---

<sup>1</sup> References will be to the PAO and to the tabs attached to the PAO, following the format utilized in the PAO.

case law, had determined that “the following activities would constitute the unauthorized practice of law: establishing irrevocable trusts, establishing qualified income trusts, and hiring an attorney to review, prepare, or modify documents for customers if payment to the attorney was through the company” that was providing nonlawyer Medicaid planning services. The Standing Committee further advised that “[t]he following activities would be determined on a case-by-case basis: restructuring assets, counseling customers on the best way to get Medicaid approval, and advertising as an ‘elder counselor’.” *Id.*

Pursuant to Rule 10-9.1(f) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, public notice of the hearing was provided on The Florida Bar’s website, in *The Florida Bar News*, and in the *Tampa Bay Times*. On February 22, 2013, the Standing Committee held a public hearing.

Testifying on behalf of the petitioner were Twyla Sketchley, Chair of the Elder Law Section of The Florida Bar, and John Frazier, Chair of the UPL Subcommittee of the Elder Law Section. In addition to the two representatives of the Elder Law Section, live testimony was received from eight (8) people. Four (4) of the witnesses were lawyers. The Committee also received written testimony, primarily from lawyers who are members of the Elder Law Section.

Sketchley, testifying in her capacity as the chair of the Elder Law Section, represented to the Committee that

Other than attorneys who do Medicaid planning, the entire Medicaid planning industry is unregulated in every way. There is no licensing requirements [sic]. There is no education requirements [sic]. And there is no governmental entity or private entity through which you can file complaints against the perpetrators in this industry, other than to file unlicensed practice of law complaints.

(TAB D, p. 11, ll. 2 – 10). Sketchley then characterized nonlawyer Medicaid planners “because of lack of any and all regulation whatsoever, [as] everything from individuals who have lost their securities licenses for fraudulent practices, to felons charged with defrauding the elderly. These are the people that get to give Medicaid advice.” (TAB D, p. 11, ll. 13 – 18). She further testified, “They’re not a regulated industry, so they’re not doing it for altruistic reasons.” (TAB D, p. 17, l. 22 – p. 18, l. 3).

Sketchley testified that “there are few complaints in this area because the population that would complain cannot do so.” (TAB D, p. 12, ll. 22 – 24). She uses the term “predator” repeatedly in her testimony when referring to nonlawyer Medicaid planners. (TAB D, p. 13) Acknowledging that “[t]here are some good nonattorney Medicaid planners,” Sketchley requested the Standing Committee issue “clear guidelines on what the practice of law is.” (TAB D, p. 14, ll. 16 – 21). She summarized her request to the Standing Committee as follows:

If you don’t issue an advisory opinion that states Medicaid planning and the advice surrounding the placement of assets is the practice of law, you’re holding the public to a dramatically different standard than you’re holding the dues paying mandatory members of The Florida Bar.

(TAB D, p. 17, ll. 6 – 11).

John Frazier, the chair of the UPL Subcommittee of the Elder Law Section, testified that the Standing Committee’s 2009 letter (TAB A) was “a great starting point,” but that he felt nonattorney Medicaid planners were not aware of the letter. He suggested the letter did not have “the public recognition that an advisory opinion would have.” Further, he did not believe the “letter is comprehensive enough to address all the issues that are involved in nonattorney Medicaid planning.” (TAB D, p. 25, ll. 5 – 13). Frazier offered verbal reports of the various nonattorney Medicaid planners who are indicative of the problem in this field. He cited “a life insurance agent who was convicted of two felonies, lost his license and now he’s a Medicaid planner;” “another individual, it’s my understanding, who had his securities license suspended [and now] is a Medicaid planner;” “a disbarred lawyer” who then began Medicaid planning; and “a report of an attorney who has established a nonattorney Medicaid planning company.” (TAB D, p. 26, l. 17 – p. 27, l. 4.)

Both the oral and written testimony contain references to apparent abuses that have occurred in the field of Medicaid planning. The testimony addressed examples of nonlawyers preparing legal documents, (TABs D, F, I, M, O, and Q) improper affiliation with attorneys, (TABs D, I, and J) improper advertising, (TABs D, H, M, O, and P) referral to nonlawyer/paralegal services, (TABs A and

J) and excessive fees and kick-backs. (TABs D, H, and M) Reports of nonlawyers providing legal advice were provided. (TABs D, F, K, O, and Q).

The testimony included two examples of lawyers who were apparently abusing the Medicaid planning process. (TAB G and O) In the first example (TAB G), no name was provided. In the second examples (TAB O), the alleged wrongdoer was identified as Linda Littlefield, who was criminally charged and disbarred. She then started a nonlawyer Medicaid planning business.

The former chair of the Elder Law Section, Leonard E. Mondschien, provided written testimony (TAB M) in which he stated:

7. All non-attorney Medicaid Planners have the following in common: They have no licence [sic] of any kind, they have no rules regulating their conduct, can advertise themselves as experts to the public, they can engage in high pressure unsolicited sales practices and scare tactics, carry no malpractice or liability insurance, never have to pass a bar exam or certification exam, have no requirement to have any education or training, and owe absolutely no duty of loyalty or ethical behavior to those who pay them fees.

#### B. Standing Committee on UPL Findings

The PAO presented the findings of the Standing Committee on UPL under separate headings. The Standing Committee found that the drafting of personal services contracts, the preparation and execution of qualified income trusts, and the rendering of legal advice regarding the implementation of Florida law to obtain Medicaid benefits, and attorney involvement with a nonlawyer Medicaid planner

where an independent attorney/client relationship does not exist between the client and the lawyer are each activities that constitute the unlicensed practice of law.

At page 9 of the PAO, the Committee interprets the opinion rendered in *In re: The Joint Petition of The Florida Bar and Raymond James and Associates, Inc.*, 215 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1968). The PAO states “[t]he holding did not allow for the gathering of any information, it allowed for the gathering of facts about a customer’s assets, an activity a licensed securities broker would need to be able to perform to conduct the business of selling securities.” ( PAO, p. 9) The PAO also acknowledges the holding in *The Florida Bar re: Advisory Opinion – Nonlawyer Preparation of Living Trusts*, 613 So. 2d 426 (Fla. 1993), that “a life insurance agent would have to be able to gather facts about a person’s assets to perform” the business of selling “life insurance that will fund a living trust and may offer advice on funding the trust from a financial standpoint.” *Id.*

While the PAO acknowledges that “the information a nonlawyer may gather is limited to information about a customer’s assets when such information is necessary for the nonlawyer to conduct business for which they are licensed and regulated,” (PAO, p. 9) the conclusion of the PAO is that “advising an individual on the appropriate legal strategies available for spending down and restructuring assets and the need for a personal service contract or Qualified Income Trust” is the unauthorized practice of law. (PAO, p. 19)

C. The Petitioner and the Regulatory Environment of Nonlawyer Regulated Professionals.

This brief is submitted by William D. Burns, who has held a Series 7 Securities license for twenty-five (25) years. He also holds a 0214 Life incl. Variable Annuity, 0215 Life incl. Variable Annuity & Health, a 0216 Life, a 0218 Life & Health and a 0240 Health license. He, along with all others holding these licenses, is regulated by the Office of Insurance Regulation of the Florida Department of Financial Services. His insurance licenses fall under the provisions of Chapter 624, Florida Statutes, and Chapter 690, Florida Administrative Code.

Securities brokers in Florida must be members of and regulated by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (hereafter “FINRA”). FINRA has promulgated extensive regulations governing the securities industry. In addition to regulation by FINRA, a securities broker in Florida falls under the jurisdiction of the Florida Department of Banking and Finance. Chapter 517, Florida Statutes, and Florida Administrative Code Rule 69W-1000.001. A threshold qualification for application with FINRA is an affiliation with a broker/dealer firm. Broker/dealers are required to provide supervision of their affiliated persons (the term for stock brokers who hold their licenses under that firm). Such supervision includes the designation of a chief compliance officer who establishes policies and procedures. The firm reviews the transactions and practices of its affiliated persons. FINRA Rule 3110. One of the important functions of such oversight is to ensure

compliance with the “know your customer” rule, FINRA Rule 2090, that requires a stockbroker “[u]se reasonable diligence to learn the essential facts relative to every customer, every order, every cash or margin account accepted . . .” The information that is required to be obtained includes the investor’s financial status, the investor’s tax status, the investor’s planning objectives, and other all other information reasonably needed by such financial representative in order to make suitable financial and/or a securities recommendation to the client.

Stockbrokers and insurance agents must pass licensing exams and then are subject to ongoing continuing education requirements. A Series 7 Securities licensed stockbroker must complete an annual continuing education program known as “Firm Element” and must also complete a “Regulatory Element” continuing education program every three years, including a comprehensive, proctored exam, to maintain his license. FINRA Rule 1250. The average Florida licensed insurance agent must complete 28 hours of continuing education every 2 years, including a mandatory senior suitability component.

To maintain a Securities license, the licensed individual must abide by the rules of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority. To maintain a state insurance license, a licensed individual must comply with the regulations of the Florida Department of Financial Services. A Series 7 Securities licensed stock broker must

submit all forms of advertising, including correspondence that is sent to more than 25 people, to their broker/dealer for pre-approval. FINRA Rule 2210.

Non-attorney Medicaid Planners who possess various nonlawyer professional licenses are in fact subject to having complaints filed against them with the relevant regulatory authority. *See, e.g.* Chapter 8000, Investigations and Sanctions, FINRA Rules.

Upon knowledge and belief, most regulated professionals are required by the firms with which they are affiliated to carry errors and omissions insurance. For instance, most broker/dealers required Series 7 Securities licensed stockbroker to carry minimum coverage of at least \$3,000,000.00.

With regard to ethical standards, Chapter 2000, Duties and Conflicts, FINRA Rules, codifies an extensive set of conduct rules, including duties to the customer, communications with the public, and the standards for transactions involving particular financial products.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Standing Committee on UPL's petition to adopt its Proposed Advisory Opinion should be denied. The evidence presented to the Standing Committee failed to demonstrate a need for action on this subject. The existing law, as summarized in the 2009 letter from the Standing Committee on UPL, provides clear guidance with regard to specific conduct that constitutes the unauthorized

practice of law. There is no disagreement on the specific activities that letter declared to be the practice of law. The difficulty arises in determining when legal advice becomes the practice of law. The 2009 letter further advised that “restructuring assets, counseling customers on the best way to get Medicaid approval, and advertising as an ‘elder counselor’” would be considered on a case-by-case basis. Nothing in the Proposed Advisory Opinion provides additional guidance to that consideration. By assuming that “all nonlawyer Medicaid planners” are unlicensed and unregulated, the Proposed Advisory Opinion fails to take into consideration the various licensed, regulated professionals engaged in Medicaid planning. Further, the Proposed Advisory Opinion rejects the applicability of the cases that define what is and is not the unauthorized practice of law for stockbrokers and insurance agents, thus injecting confusion rather than clarity to this problem.

Finally, the use of several extreme examples to characterize nonlawyer Medicaid planners is highly inappropriate. Presenting these isolated cases as representative of the various people who provide these services is both a disservice to the public and to the professionals who provide Medicaid planning. The record is clear that there are very few complaints of nonlawyer Medicaid planners engaging in the unauthorized practice of law. Thus, there is no basis for the adoption of the Proposed Advisory Opinion.

## ARGUMENT

Issues Not in Dispute. Burns respectfully contends that the PAO does not achieve the ultimate goal of protecting the public. The recommendations regarding the drafting and execution of personal service contracts, qualified income trusts, and other legal documents are clearly the practice of law. This Court has spoken on those issues in various cases. *See, e.g. The Florida Bar v. Advisory Opinion – Nonlawyer Preparation of Living Trusts*, 613 So. 2d 426 (Fla. 1993) (hereafter “*Living Trust case*”); *In re: The Joint Petition of The Florida Bar and Raymond, James and Associates, Inc.*, 215 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1968) (hereafter “*Raymond James case*”); *The Florida Bar v. American Senior Citizens Alliance, Inc.*, 689 So. 2d 255 (Fla. 1997) (hereafter “*American Senior Citizens Alliance*”); and, *State ex rel. The Florida Bar v. Sperry*, 140 So. 2d 587 (Fla. 1962), *vacated on other grounds*, 373 U.S. 379 (1963); and *The Florida Bar v. Brumbaugh*, 355 So. 2d 1186 (Fla. 1978).

The law is equally clear regarding the involvement of lawyers in the business of a nonlawyer Medicaid planner. Under both the *Living Trust* and *American Senior Citizens Alliance* cases a lawyer who participates with a nonlawyer Medicaid planning business must establish an independent relationship with the client. Payment to the lawyer must be made directly to the lawyer by the client. R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4—1.8(f). The lawyer must make the determination that the particular document or Medicaid planning strategy is appropriate for the

client in light of the client's particular factual circumstances. *See* R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4—1.2.

Burns fully agrees that our elderly population is vulnerable to unscrupulous or incompetent Medicaid planners and a host of other unsavory people in our society who take advantage of the elderly, regardless of the services being provided. One of the examples given repeatedly was of the disbarred lawyer (PAO, pp. 17—18) who opened a Medicaid planning company. Before that person was disbarred, she was taking advantage of people as a licensed lawyer. Sadly, we see far too many lawyers who abuse their trust when ostensibly serving our older population. Burns agrees that these abuses exist. However, he believes that the PAO will do nothing to address the abuses described in the testimony provided to the Standing Committee, rather if approved it will create confusion and uncertainty, as described below.

Regulated Medicaid Planners. There is no dispute that no Florida law requires Medicaid planners to be licensed. In part that state of affairs exists because federal regulations mandate that a Medicaid applicant be permitted to have “an individual or individuals of the applicant's choice to accompany, assist, and represent the applicant in the application process or a redetermination of eligibility.” This federal requirement complicates the task of crafting regulations. While this Court cannot create such a regulation, in addressing the UPL issues there must be

consideration given to the role of other regulated professions. This Court has laid a solid foundation such interdisciplinary guidelines in *Raymond James, Living Trust, Brumbaugh*, and *Sperry, supra*.

The *Raymond James* opinion is a powerful example of a cooperative approach to establishing rules regarding what are clearly overlap roles of the various regulated professionals and the regulatory authorities that supervise those professionals. It clearly acknowledges that stockbrokers are regulated. In fact, the regulation of stock brokers is rather extensive. However, in considering the perceived problem of UPL by Medicaid planners, there was no effort to obtain the input and cooperation of the other regulated professionals involved in Medicaid planning. Rather than view *Raymond James* as a model for moving forward, it was rejected as not applicable to Medicaid planning.

As more fully described above, Burns is licensed by the State of Florida as a Life, Health and Annuity agent. He, along with all others holding these licenses, is regulated by the Office of Insurance Regulation of the Florida Department of Financial Services. As a licensed stockbroker, he is subject to the extensive regulation outlined above.

In addition to omitting discussion of the role of stockbrokers and insurance agents, the extent to which other regulated nonlawyer professionals may provide assistance with Medicaid planning was not addressed in the evidence provided to

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