**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**  
CASE NO.: SC14-211

THE FLORIDA BAR

RE: ADVISORY  
OPINION – MEDICAID PLANNING  
ACTIVITIES BY NONLAWYERS

---

**ANSWER BRIEF OF PETITIONER, ELDER LAW  
SECTION OF THE FLORIDA BAR, IN REPLY TO  
BRIEFS OF INTERESTED PARTIES**

---

Robert M. Sondak  
Fla. Bar No.: 223875  
Cohen Chase, Hoffman & Schimmel, P.A.  
9400 South Dadeland Blvd.  
Suite 600  
Miami, Florida 33156  
Tel: 305-670-0201  
[rmsondak@miamitaxlaw.com](mailto:rmsondak@miamitaxlaw.com)

On behalf of Elder Law Section of the  
Florida Bar

**

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The proposed advisory opinion accurately states the law as to which activities of nonlawyer medicaid planners constitutes the practice of law and why this Court should prohibit that conduct. The Briefs and responses to the proposed advisory opinion further illustrate the need for this Court to issue an Advisory Opinion for the protection of the public.

#### ARGUMENT

Three interested parties have submitted briefs and responses to this Court.

These raise issues which the Elder Law Section will address in this brief.<sup>4</sup>

A. The Licenses Held By Mr. Burns Does Not Authorize the Practice of Law in Medicaid Planning

The brief filed by William D. Burns, a licensed securities salesman and licensed life insurance salesman argues, that his licenses authorize him to give legal advice to his customers on the eligibility requirements for medicaid. (Burns Brief at 14-16) He also asserts that the proposed advisory opinion does not clearly differentiate “when legal advice becomes the practice of law.” (Burns Brief at 11)

The Elder Law Section respectfully disagrees with Mr. Burns. An unbroken line of precedent over the past sixty years beginning with the Florida Bar v. Sperry, 140 So. 587, 597 (Fla. 1962), vacated on other grounds, 373 U.S. 379 (1963) holds that:

“The practice of law includes the giving of legal advice and

---

<sup>4</sup>The brief filed by Florida Legal Services urges this Court to recognize the legal duty of the Department of Children and Family Services (“DCF”) under 42 C.F.R. §435.905(a) to furnish information to medicaid applicants and others requesting information concerning eligibility requirements, available medicaid services and rights and responsibilities of applicants and beneficiaries. The Elder Law Section agrees. To the extent that Federal regulations authorize or require government employees to provide information about eligibility requirements, this is not the unauthorized practice of law, as it is authorized by Federal law. Sperry v. State of Florida in re: The Florida Bar, 373 U.S. 379 (1963). Nothing in 42 C.F.R. §435.905(a), however, purports to authorize DFC or anyone else to offer the type of legal advice needed to apply three thousand pages of laws, rules and regulations to the individual facts and circumstances of a potential applicant, that person’s spouse and family, as to how to attempt to conform to those legal requirements.

counsel to others as to their rights and obligations under the law and the preparation of legal instruments, including contracts, by which legal rights are either obtained, secured or given away, although such matters may not then or ever be the subject of proceedings in a court.”

This Court has repeatedly explained and elaborated on the distinction between the practice of law which must be conducted by lawyers licensed and regulated by this Court (and the exceptions for nonlawyers authorized by Federal or state law or regulations) and the activities of nonlawyers which are not within the definition of the practice of law. The Florida Bar re: Advisory Opinion– Nonlawyer Preparation of Living Trusts, 613 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1993); The Florida Bar re: Advisory Opinion– Nonlawyer Preparation of Pension Plans, 571 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1990); The Florida Bar re: Advisory Opinion– Nonlawyer Preparation of Notice to Owner and Notice to Contractor, 544 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 1989). The proposed advisory opinion accurately and adequately differentiates and delineates what constitutes the practice of law in the area of medicaid planning.

The remaining issue raised in Mr. Burns brief then, is whether a securities salesman’s license and an insurance salesman’s license “authorize” Mr. Burns to give legal advice in medicaid planning. As discussed below, neither of those licenses sanction Mr. Burns offering legal advice to his customers regarding medicaid eligibility.

The licenses Mr. Burns' holds requires his demonstrating to the licensing agencies his proficiency in areas involving the sale of securities and life insurance. He is required to maintain his proficiency through continuing education. Florida Statutes §§626.011 et. sec., 626.776 et. sec. (life insurance); <http://www.finra.org/Industry/Compliance/Registration/QualificationsExams/Qualifications/P011051> (securities). The Elder Law Section does not dispute a licensed insurance sales agent's proficiency in understanding the different types of insurance products available on the market and the need to understand the financial situation and goals of the customer and how an insurance product may help achieve those goals. Likewise, the Elder Law Section does not dispute that a licensed securities salesman is obliged to "know your customer," to be able to determine whether a particular security is suitable to a customer. Mr. Burns is required to have an understanding of his customers' financial situations and goals. Further, should Mr. Burns recommend unsuitable life insurance or securities products to customers, he might be sanctioned, and certainly could be sued by those customers.

However, nothing in the licensing or regulation of securities and life insurance sales agents addresses the intricacies of the three thousand pages of laws and regulations needed to understand and advise on medicaid eligibility, and none of Mr. Burns' training or continuing education provides for proficiency in analyzing those

laws, rules and regulations, and applying them to the unique factual circumstances of a potential medicaid applicant. Mr. Burns is fundamentally wrong in saying that he may provide legal advice in this area based on his holding licenses to sell securities and life insurance products.

Mr. Burns seeks to rely on this Court's opinion in The Florida Bar and Raymond James and Associates, Inc., 215 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1968) and in particular the sentence in the opinion providing that securities brokers do not engage in the unlicensed practice of law when they "solicit specific facts about customers' or prospective customers' assets." 215 So.2d at 614. Mr. Burns argues that, by analogy, he may offer legal advice on the asset test embedded in the three thousand pages of laws, rules and regulations to medicaid applicants because he is authorized to "solicit specific facts about customers" or prospective customers "assets."

Plainly, Mr. Burns is misreading the Raymond James opinion. The opinion begins by stating that it constitutes the unauthorized practice of law for securities brokers "giving legal advice, directly or indirectly to individuals or groups concerning the application, preparation, advisability or quality of any legal instrument or document or forms thereof in connection with the disposition of property inter vivos or upon death, including inter vivos trusts and wills." 215 So.2d at 613-14. Throughout the Raymond James opinion, this Court repeatedly emphasized that

securities brokers may not give legal advice concerning the legal consequences of financial transactions, may not give specific tax liability advice, render legal services to the public or solicit their bringing legal problems to them for advice. 215 So.2d at 614 There is nothing in the Raymond James opinion which purports to justify the position taken by Mr. Burns in his brief. The distinction between the duty of a securities broker to understand the financial goals and abilities of customers in order to determine the suitability of a particular securities product on the one hand and the giving of legal advice as to how to meet the asset and income tests of the complex medicaid regulations on the other hand is a distinction which may elude Mr. Burns in his Brief, but can and should be made clearly and unambiguously by this Court, in order that there will be no further misunderstandings.

Mr. Burns states in his brief that “Medicaid planning is not a purely legal problem, but instead is a complex financial discipline that requires legal assistance to execute an appropriate plan.” (Burns Brief at 16) The statement in Mr. Burns’ brief proves too much. Most matters which are handled by lawyers for clients in today’s world are not “merely” a legal matter. We assume that Mr. Burns is not meaning to suggest that he may give legal advice on any of the host of matters for which people consult lawyers on the disposition of their assets, the transfer of title to property, holding property in joint names, the various substitutes for wills which may

be utilized to avoid probate, or the legal aspects of retirement planning. If so, Mr. Burns would be well advised to reread the Raymond James opinion, and in particular the seven enumerated paragraphs in which this Court set forth the activities constituting the unauthorized practice of law which “may not be carried out by Raymond James and Associates, Inc., its individual officers, agents or employees and each of them” who are, “perpetually restrained and enjoined” from doing. 215 So.2d at 613.

Mr. Burns’ Brief cites (and in some instances misstates) six of this Court’s opinions as to the unauthorized practice of law. (Burns Brief at 24-25) In each of those cases, there was a specific provision of law, either Federal or state, which authorized a group of non-lawyers to perform certain narrowly defined legal services. The Florida Bar v. Moses, 380 So.2d 412 (Fla. 1980)(the legislature (or an agency) could authorize by law (or rule) non-lawyers to appear before hearing officers in administrative proceedings where the legislature created these agencies); Florida Bar re: Advisory Opinion - NonLawyer Preparation of Pension Plans, 571 So.2d 430 (Fla. 1990)(accountants and actuaries who are licensed to practice before the IRS under Federal law are authorized to prepare pension plan documents); Keys Co. v. Dade County Bar Ass’n, 46 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1950)(under Chapter 475, Florida Statutes, licensed realtors may prepare deposit receipt or sales contracts reflecting the realtor’s

bringing the parties together, but a realtor may not examine abstracts or conduct closings); The Florida Bar v. McPhee, 195 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1967)(a title company may examine and give opinion of insurable title where the title company is hired to issue the title insurance); The Florida Bar re: Advisory Opinion: Nonlawyers Preparation of Landlord Uncontested Evictions, 605 So.2d 868 (Fla. 1993), second opinion 627 So.2d 485 (Fla. 1993)(property managers may file uncontested residential evictions for non payment of rent but not appear in contested hearings); The Florida Bar Advisory Opinion - Nonlawyer Preparation of Notice to Owner and Notice to Contractor, 554 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 1989)(because there was no evidence of a propensity for public harm from an industry which is trained and knowledgeable, nonlawyer preparation of the notices was authorized; giving legal advice or completing other forms is not authorized).

Here, however, apart from the Federal regulation allowing anyone to assist in filling out a medicaid eligibility application, there are no Federal or state regulations which sanction the conduct Mr. Burns would have this Court authorize, and the risk of public harm is substantial. The Elder Law Section respectfully requests that the Court overrule Mr. Burns' objections.

B. The Turbeville "Guidelines" Should Be Rejected By This Court

Mr. Turbeville has filed a response in opposition to the proposed advisory

opinion.<sup>5</sup>

Mr. Turbeville asks this Court to issue an order authorizing him (and apparently anyone else) as follows:

“The guidance of this Court is that Non-lawyer Medicaid application services or others assisting in applying for Medicaid Benefits and carrying out activities incident to such application, including the filling in, execution and instruction regarding documents drafted by a lawyer in good standing with the Florida Bar is not the Unlicensed Practice of Law. Such documents include qualified income trusts, durable powers of attorney, and personal service contracts. Further, the rendering of legal advice related to Florida laws, rules and regulations in applying for Medicaid benefits, the interpretation and argument regarding such laws within the Department of Children and Families and the Florida Office of Hearings, on behalf of another, with or without compensation, is not the Unlicensed Practice of Law.” (Turbeville Response at 26-

---

<sup>5</sup>Mr. Turbeville takes offense at a statement in the record as to his being barred from the securities industry. (Turbeville Response at 3-4) The particular statement came from a news release issued by FINRA on June 4, 2012. That news release and accompanying news articles are among of the written submissions to the Standing Committee. Mr. Turbeville’s brief claims that he holds an “inactive” designation as a certified financial planner and has an “inactive” securities license, and further claims that he is appealing from the sanctions imposed by FINRA.

It is not appropriate in the brief to address the details of the dispute between Mr. Turbeville and FINRA. We note, however, that according to FINRA, its action barring Mr. Turbeville from the securities industry was the result of its order of restitution to customers for his having “intentionally made fraudulent misrepresentations and omissions to elderly and unsophisticated customers regarding the risks associated with investing in CMO’s” and his having “preyed on [his] elder customers greatest fears” of “losing their assets to nursing homes and becoming destitute during their retirement and old age.”

27)

If Mr. Turbeville were correct, and this Court were to adopt his proposal, it would overrule 60 years of unlicensed practice of law opinions of this Court. It would sanction virtually any activity by a non-lawyer, regardless of lack of training, licensing, continuing education, protection of client funds, or the inability of this Court to discipline them. Moreover, it would erase §454.23, Florida Statutes, which makes the unauthorized practice of law a third degree felony. And it would do so in the context of a written record demonstrating the need for precisely these rules against the unlicensed practice of law.

Plainly, Mr. Turbeville, and others who think as he does, are in need of this Court's clear and unambiguous ruling as to the limits on the activities of nonlawyer medicaid planners. Mr. Turbeville plainly has misread this Court's Sperry decision. In Sperry, the practice of law by a non-lawyer became authorized practice only because of Federal pre-exemption. Notably, it remains the unlicensed practice of law, punishable in Florida, for someone not licensed by the patent office to attempt to perform these services and give this advice. And, Mr. Turbeville is unable to point to any analogous Federal or state authorization for him to practice law in this area.

Mr. Turbeville tries to hide behind the Federal regulation allowing him to assist an applicant in filling out a medicaid application. Plainly, nothing in that regulation

which permits assistance in filling out a written form of application constitutes Federal authority to provide legal advice or legal services to the public.<sup>6</sup>

### SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The Elder Law Section believes that the written record in this case demonstrates far more potential for public harm and actual public harm from the activities of non-lawyers than that demonstrated to this Court in the Florida Bar re: Advisory Opinion - Non-Lawyer Preparation of Living Trusts, 613 So.2d 426 (Fla. 1992). And, just as this Court's opinion in the Living Trusts decision facilitated the enforcement of the unlicensed practice of law rules in later cases such as the Florida Bar v. American Senior Citizens Alliance, Inc., 689 So.2d 255 (Fla. 1997), the Elder Law Section urges this Court to issue an opinion as to medicaid planners so that the Florida Bar, and State Attorneys throughout the State will be better able to enforce the laws and rules against the unlicensed practice of law by medicaid planners.

---

<sup>6</sup>Mr. Turbeville's company, Platinum Benefit Planning, Inc., has a website, the content of which is reproduced in the record. In that website, Platinum Benefit repeatedly states "remember, we are the medicaid experts." (Platinum Benefit purports to have registered that expression.) The advertising on that website, if done by an attorney, would plainly violate the existing advertising regulations and lead to disciplinary proceedings.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/ Robert M. Sondak

Robert M. Sondak

Fla. Bar No.: 223875

Cohen Chase, Hoffman & Schimmel, P.A.

9400 South Dadeland Blvd.

Suite 600

Miami, Florida 33156

Tel: 305-670-0201

Primary email:

[rmsondak@miamitaxlaw.com](mailto:rmsondak@miamitaxlaw.com)